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The small frame cottage known as the O. Henry Museum was
constructed in 1886 at 308 E. Fourth Street in Austin, The
house, in a simplified version of the Eastlake style, originally
consisted of a parlor, front hall, dining room, kitchen and
one bedroom. This typical L-shaped Victorian cottage plan
had a veranda across the front and rear elevations.

The frame structure is sheathed in clapboarding. The
projecting bay on the main or north elevation has wooden
decorative elements projecting from the barge board. These
elements include drop finials on the ends of the barge boards,
a horizontal cross member, a vertical king-post which projects
beyond the roof, cross bracing and a circular fan-like
decorative element unifying the composition.™ The windows have
shallow pedimented lintels with applied wooden rosettes. All
windows are shuttered. The porches have scroll saw balustrades,
turned posts and scroll saw brackets and spandrels.

N1In 1893, a back bedroom, an unplumbed bath and lavatory
were added. This enclosed the east side of the rear veranda.
The end wall was sheathed in clapboarding and, with the
inset doorway this space became a back hall.x The narrow oak
flooring in the addition was in contrast to the wide board
Bastrop pine used in the 1886 portion of the house. The
interior of the residence contains has a handsome dark
woodwork.

NThe house has remained basically unchanged to the presenE?*
The City of Austin accepted the house in January 1934, and
moved it to Brush Square in March 1934, to save it from
demolition. The City installed electricity and plumbing in
the same year and opened the structure as a museum in June
1934, Some interior restoration work has been done in
1969 and 1972. For the most part, however, the house has
remained unchanged since the time of the Porter family
occupation. The first Mrs. William S. Porter lived in Austin
until her death. The museum has subsequently acquired
furniture, china, photographs, letters and other memorabilia
which belonged to the family.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The small, frame cottage in the Eastlake style, at 409
East 5th Street/dis the only extant residence in Austin in
which William Sidney Porter (1862-1910) lived.!

Porter was born in Greensboro, North Carolina on
September 11, 1862, and came to Texas in 1882. 1In 1884,
at the age of twenty-two, he settled in Austin. During
this period he held various jobs including working in a
drug store and becoming a real estate agent. From 1887
to 1891, he worked as a draftsman in the General Land
Office, located on the Capitol grounds. From 1891 until
1894, he worked as a bank teller in the First National
Bank (then located at 6th and Congress streets, in Austin.)

On July 5, 1887, Porter married Athol Estes. After
living in various houses, the Porter family moved in 1893
to the residence which is now called the 0. Henry Museum.
At this time, the structure was located at 308 E. Fourth
Street, a few blocks from its present location. The
Porter family lived in the house for two years. It was
during this period (1894) that Porter resigned his position
in the bank to give all his time to editing a humorous
weekly, The Rolling Stone. When the venture failed in 1895,
Porter moved to Houston, where he wrote for the Houston
Daily Post.

In 1896 Porter was summoned to Austin to stand trail for
the alleged embezzelment of funds from the First National
Bank, where he had been employed as a teller. Rather than
obeying the summons, Porter fled to New Orleans and then to
Honduras. Returning to Austin in 1897 to visit his sick
wife, Porter was arrested and in March, 1898, was sentenced
to the federal penitentiary at Columbus, Ohio.

While in prison, Porter wrote under various pseudonyms.
Eventually, the name, "O. Henry", displaced all the others.
In 1902, after his release from prison, he went to New York
to continue his writing. Among Porter's most famous
stories are "The Gift of the Magi" and "The Ransom of Red
Chief."
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A SHORT BIOGRAPHY OF O. HENRY

1862__ September 11, born at the "Worth Place'" Guilford County, a plantation near
Greensboro, North Carolina.

1865___ September 26, death of his mother, Mrs. Algernon Sidney Porter (Mary Virginia
Swaim) from consumption while living on the plantation.

1865 His father, Dr. Algernon Sidney Porter brought the two boys, Shirley Worth and
William Sidney to live with his mother, Mrs. Sidney Porter (Ruth Worth) in her
home in Greensboro, North Carolina.

1867___ Enrollment in the private elementary school of his maiden aunt, Evelina Porter,
who established the first school in Greensboro and was affectionately known as
"Miss Lina."

1876___ His graduation from Miss Lina's school with highest honors.

1876 His enrollment in the Linsey Street High School of Greensboro, North Carolina.

1879 He went to work as bookkeeper for his Uncle Clark in the W. C. Porter and
Company Drug Store.

1881 August 20, date on which he became a licensed pharmacist in North Carolina.
He was nineteen years old at the time.

1882 He came to Texas on a visit but stayed on to work as sheep herder and ranch
hand on the Lee and Richard Hall ranch in LaSalle County.

1884  He departed the rugged ''wide open spaces'" for the "busy marts of commerce and
trade'" which was Austin, Texas. He was twenty-two years old at the time.

1884  He applied and was accepted as pharmacist at the Morley Brothers Drug Store on
East 6th Street and worked there a short time.

1885__ March 2, he was designated to escort to the ''german' Athol Estes, the high
school girl who had participated in the ''laying of the corner stone' ceremonies.

At this time he was Lieutenant William Porter, a member of the Austin Grays.

1886 He organized the '"Hill City Quartette'" composed of R. H. Edmonson, H. H. Long,
C. E. Hillyer and W. S. Porter.

1886 His employment by the Maddox Brothers and Anderson, a real estate firm in Austin.
1887 He obtained the position as draftsman at the Texas Land Office.

1887 July 1, he married Athol Estes, step-daughter of Mr. P. G. Roach, merchant of
Austin and member of the Board of Trade.

1889 September 30, birth of his daughter, Margaret Worth Porter.
1890 August 7, death of his Grandmother, Ruth Worth Porter.

1890 His first visit to the home folks in Greensboro and to show off the new wife
and baby.



A Short Biography of O. Henry
Page 2

1891 His change from the Texas Land Office (a political appointment) to employment
by the First National Bank of Austin.

1894__ May 15 to 18, during the celebration held for the completion of the dam and
lake, the Austin Musicians Union put on a play, H.M.S. Pinafore by Gilbert and
Sullivan. It was staged on the deck of the steamer, Ben Hur, pulled into dock.
Both Athol and Will Porter sang in the chorus and attended the '"German' given
afterward.

1884  The beginning of the publication, "The Rolling Stone,"

1894  His resignation as teller at the First National Bank.

—_—

1895 The end of "The Rolling Stone' which backed a losing political candidate.

1895 Acceptance of a position with the Houston Post where he developed the '"Some
Postscripts' column,

1896___ Re-examination of 1894 bank shortages on circumstantial evidence. His arrest
on charges of embezzlement.

1896  Arrangement made for bond. Trial set for July 7 in the United States District
Court of Austin, Texas.

1896  July 6, his departure from Houston to appear in court in Austin. A victim of
suffering and humiliation, he caught the train at Hempstead and fled to New
Orleans, then on to Honduras.

1897 February 5, returned to Austin on learning that his wife was very ill. He
surrendered to the Court but no action was taken while his appeal was pending
in the U. S. Court of Civil Appeals in New Orleans.

1897 July 25, death of Athol (Estes) Porter. Buried in Oakwood Cemetery. For years
the Porters made their home with Mr. and Mrs. P. G. Roach at 307 East 4th Street
where Athol passed away.

1898 During this waiting period Will Porter spent much of his time around the Roach-
Hofer Grocery Store at 211 East 6th Street. In the rear of the store a stairway
led up to a mezzanine floor where Will had a desk and a few chairs. Here he
wrote for various newspapers and sent in articles to magazines.

1897___ December, sale of the short story, 'The Miracle of Lava Canyon" to S. S. McClure
Company, which published it in September 1898. His first short story accepted
by a national publisher. The social and business life of Austin made a great
impact on William Sidney Porter, and from it he drew the material for many of
his greatest stories.

----Edited by Ehtel and Harry Hofer
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O. HENRY MEMORIAL MUSEUM
409 East 5th, Austin, Texas
Home of famous short story writer and editor of
Rolling Stone during his stay in Austin (1884-1895).
William Sydney Porter (O. Henry) lived here with
wife and daughter from 1893 until 1895 when he
became columnist on the Houston Post.
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Photographed and Published by Gough Photo Service,
1740 Marshall, Houston, Texas
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